1984

**Price-Orem Investment Company, A Limited Partnership v. Rollins,  
Brown & Gunnell, Inc : Appellant's Brief**

NATURE OF THE CASE

This is an action by an owner of land against an engi-  
neering firm for damages proximately caused by the negligent  
surveying and staking of the owner's property.

DISPOSITION BELOW

This matter was tried to a jury, Maurice Harding, Dis-  
trict Judge pro tem, presiding, on November 17, 18, and 19,  
1980. The jury returned a verdict in favor of plaintiff and  
assessed damages of \$30,000. R. 101, 107. Judge Harding  
subsequently granted defendant's motion for a new trial. R.

140. The case was again set for trial, before David Sam, District Judge, on March 1, 1983. At the time set for trial, the District Court ruled that John Price Associates, Inc., the plaintiff's contractor, was an indispensable party, and later dismissed the action upon plaintiff's election not to amend the complaint to add John Price Associates, Inc. as a party. R. 147-48.

#### RELIEF SOUGHT ON APPEAL

Plaintiff requests that the District Court's order granting a new trial be reversed and the matter remanded with instructions to enter judgment for the plaintiff, or, in the alternative, that the District Court's order granting a new trial be reversed and the matter remanded for a new trial on the issue of damages only, or, in the further alternative, that the District Court's order dismissing the action for failure to join an indispensable party be reversed and the matter remanded for trial.

#### STATEMENT OF FACTS

The following facts are established by the pleadings and the evidence adduced at the trial of this matter. Sometime during the first part of July, 1973, the defendant agreed to survey and stake the corners of certain property belonging to the plaintiff in preparation for the construction of the Orem

plaza Shopping Center in Orem, Utah. Plaintiff's Amended Complaint alleged that defendant agreed to survey and stake the property for plaintiff. R. 10. The defendant's Answer to Amended Complaint admitted that the plaintiff retained the services of Rollins, Brown & Gunnell, Inc. R. 13.

The defendant performed the survey and staked the property corners. Tr. Vol. I at 202, R. 366. In fact, the defendant staked two sets of property corners, one for a fenceline and one for the title line. Tr. Vol. I at 216, R. 380. Russell Brown testified that defendant knew the difference between the two sets of stakes and that the survey's field notes reflected the difference. Id. Mr. Brown also testified that plaintiff relied upon defendant to stake the property corners. Id. Following the survey, the defendant certified, on July 27, 1973, by and through its agent Carr F. Greer, that plaintiff's property had been properly staked to represent the boundaries shown on the signed surveyor's certificate, dated July 27, 1973. Tr. Vol. I at 153, R. 317. Pltf. Ex. 4.

During the fall of 1973, John Price Associates, Inc. ("JPA"), the contractor for the project, began grading, placing fill, and compacting, in order to have the site prepared for construction in the spring of 1974. Tr. Vol. I at 27, R. 191. On June 6, 1974, JPA issued a purchase order

to the defendant for, among other things, staking of the building corners of the Skaggs building. Tr. Vol. I at 45-46, R. 209-10. Def. Ex. 7. The Skaggs building was the first portion of the Orem Plaza Shopping Center scheduled for construction. The Skaggs building was to be followed by construction of a large restaurant area, small shop space, and two free-standing buildings, all as part of the development of the shopping center.

On June 14, 1974, David Thurgood, an engineer employed by defendant, took a surveying team to the site and contacted the superintendent, Jim Marshall. Tr. Vol. I at 246, R. 410. Mr. Thurgood took with him a copy of the construction plans, a site plan and other drawings dealing with construction of the building, but did not take the survey done by defendant the previous summer or the survey field notes. Tr. Vol. I at 246, 259, R. 410, 423. Mr. Marshall requested Mr. Thurgood to stake the four corners of the building and then place offset stakes from those four corners to permit excavation for the footings. Tr. Vol. I at 248, R. 412.

Because of the proximity of the Skaggs location to the northwest corner of the property, Mr. Thurgood used that corner as a starting point to lay out the building. Tr. Vol. I at 248-49, R. 412-13. The corner was marked with a one inch diameter rebar, and a one inch by two inch wooden stake.

"N.W. property corner" was written on the wooden stake, indicating that the rebar marked the northwest property corner. Tr. Vol. I at 264, R. 428. The survey performed by defendant the previous summer indicates that the property corners were marked with one inch diameter rebars. Tr. Vol. I at 265, R. 429. Pltf. Ex. 4. Although Mr. Thurgood did not know specifically who put the wooden stake by the one inch diameter rebar, he testified that it would have been the same person that placed the pin, i.e., "representatives of persons that performed the survey of Rollins, Brown & Gunnell . . ." Tr. Vol. I at 267, R. 431. Russell Brown testified that some of the reference points shown on the survey were used in staking the building corners, Tr. Vol. I at 154, R. 318, and that defendant had in fact staked the property corners. Tr. Vol. I at 202, R. 366.

Using the northwest corner as a starting point, Mr. Thurgood and his crew sighted along the west boundary line and came down the line the indicated distance. They then turned ninety degrees to the west property line and staked the buidings corners and placed offset stakes. Tr. Vol. I at 251-52, R. 415-16. The crew then traversed back to the northwest corner. Id.

On July 15, 1974, the defendant was requested by Mr. Marshall, the construction superintendent, to stake the curb

and gutter along the south side of 200 North Street (which was directly north of the Orem Plaza Shopping Center project). Tr. Vol. I at 252, R. 146. On July 17, 1974, Mr. Thurgood and his crew began to perform that work. Id. Once again, the northwest corner was used as the starting point. Id. The defendant's crew proceeded to stake the curb and gutter until Mr. Thurgood noticed that the line which was being staked would intersect the east boundary of the property farther south of the northeast corner than it should have. Tr. Vol. I at 253, R. 417. After obtaining the survey from defendant's office and verifying the distances and property corners as shown thereon, Mr. Thurgood discovered that the northwest corner, which had been used as the starting point to stake the Skaggs building, was 30 feet south of the northwest corner shown on the site plan. Tr. Vol. I at 253-54, R. 417-18. Russell Brown admitted that the Skaggs building was not staked out in proper relation to the property corners as shown on the plot plan. Tr. Vol. I at 201, R. 365.

Defendant contacted JPA and informed it of the error on July 17, 1974. Tr. Vol. I at 255, R. 419. A couple of days later, representatives of defendant and JPA met at the job site to discuss the problem. Id. During the month between the time the building corners were staked and the time the

error was discovered, construction had moved forward considerably on the Skaggs building. For example, between June 14 and July 17, approximately 235 cubic yards, or 20 to 25 truckloads, of concrete were poured. Tr. Vol. I at 101-02, R. 266-67, Def. Ex. 8. Most of the concrete poured was for footings and the slab for the Skaggs building. Tr. Vol. I at 31, 72-73, R. 195, 236-37. Most of the interior footings were completed, including re-enforcing steel and bolts. Id. A large number of the slabs, approximately fifteen to twenty thousand square feet, had been poured. Id. Plumbing and electrical work was in place under the slabs since that work could not be installed after the slabs were poured. Id. A small amount of concrete was poured for curb and gutter. Tr. Vol. I at 75, R. 239. On July 18, 1974, the day after defendant discovered the staking error, the first tilt-up panels were poured. Tr. Vol. I at 102-03, R. 266-67. Other tilt-up panels had been formed. Tr. Vol. I at 31, R. 195.

After discovering the staking error and consulting with representatives of JPA, defendant was requested to prepare a survey showing the actual location of the Skaggs building with respect to the property boundaries. Tr. Vol. I at 256, R. 420. Defendant prepared this survey, which showed that the Skaggs building was located approximately 30 feet south of its intended location. Tr. Vol. I at 256, 258, R. 420,

422, Pltf. Ex. 5. If plaintiff had continued to build the shopping center as planned, the building would have extended over the south property line. Tr. Vol. I at 38, R. 202.

Several possible remedial measures were explored, Tr. Vol. I at 72, R. 236; however, due to financing, costs, and lease limitations, plaintiff ultimately decided to absorb the 30 foot error by shortening the shop space planned for the south end of the shopping center. Tr. Vol. I at 39-40, R. 203-04. In order to allow for the surveying error and to avoid building the shopping center across the south property line, in the latter part of July, 1974, plaintiff instructed the architect to redesign the shop space. Tr. Vol. I at 40, Vol. II at 58, R. 204, 524. Since the shop space was designed for a depth of 70 feet, Tr. Vol. II at 52, R. 518, this resulted in the loss of 2100 square feet of shop space. Tr. Vol. II at 59, R. 525.

Other alternatives suggested by defendant and considered by the plaintiff in attempting to minimize the damage caused by the surveying error were rejected as incompatible with the time constraints imposed by plaintiff's financing commitment, excessively expensive in terms of increased construction costs, and/or economically impracticable. The primary consideration in determining what to do was the completion deadline imposed by Aetna Life Insurance Company, which had com-

mitted to provide a 30-year mortgage loan of \$1,900,000, with interest at 8.75%. Tr. Vol. I at 39, R. 203, Pltf. Ex. 2. The commitment expired on January 30, 1975, and Aetna was not required to disburse any funds prior to November 18, 1974. Pltf. Ex. 2. As a means of paying the commitment fee of \$38,000 to Aetna, the plaintiff provided two letters of credit payable to Aetna, each in the amount of \$19,000. Tr. Vol. I at 25-26, R. 189-90, Pltf. Ex. 3. In the event the loan closed on or after November 18, 1974, but on or before November 30, 1974, the entire commitment fee of \$38,000 was to be returned to the plaintiff. Id. In the event the loan closed on or after December 1, 1974, but on or before December 30, 1974, one-half of the commitment fee, or \$19,000, would be returned to the plaintiff. Id. If the loan closed after December 30, 1974, but before the commitment expired on January 30, 1975, Aetna was entitled to retain the entire commitment fee. Id.

In order to close on the Aetna loan, plaintiff was required, by the loan commitment and mortgage loan application, to have the Skaggs building substantially completed. Tr. Vol. I at 25, R. 189, Pltf. Ex. 1 and 2. Thus, delays in construction could risk the loss of up to \$38,000 in commitment fees, and perhaps the entire funding commitment. Tr. Vol. I at 34-35, R. 198-99. John Price, the general partner

of plaintiff, was seriously concerned that the delay caused in construction by attempting to move the Skaggs building 30 feet to the north would jeopardize the Aetna loan commitment. Id. In actual fact, the funding deadline was barely met. Tr. Vol. II at 63, R. 529.

Lease restrictions prevented plaintiff from recouping the lost frontage at any other economically feasible area on the property. Skaggs, the anchor tenant for the shopping center, would not permit any building to be built on its north side or directly in front of the Skaggs store, the only available locations. Tr. Vol. I at 62-63, Tr. Vol. II at 30-31, R. 226-27, 496-97, Pltf. Ex. 11. In short, there was no way to find an additional 30 feet of frontage.

Since the economic value in the shopping center is found in the frontage available, and not purely in the size of the structure, plaintiff did not consider it feasible to deepen the shop space or build additional space in the back of the mall. Tr. Vol. I at 99, R. 263. The shops were planned to be 70 feet deep. Adding additional depth to the shops was not economically practicable since the additional space would have been unleaseable. Tr. Vol. I at 39, 54, 71, 127-28, R. 203, 218, 235, 291-92. Two free-standing sites had already been planned for the area in front of the shop space and

restaurant; therefore, that space was unavailable to pick up the lost frontage. Tr. Vol. I at 55, R. 219.

Finally, defendant suggested and plaintiff considered the option of resituating the Skaggs Drug Center 30 feet north of where it had actually been built. Russell Brown, one of the principals of the defendant, testified that there were no electrical installations in the concrete at the time he observed the project in early September, 1974. Tr. Vol. I at 172-73, R. 336-37. There was one plumbing stub. Tr. Vol. I at 173, R. 337. Mr. Price testified that some electrical and plumbing work had been set in the concrete that had been poured. Tr. Vol. I at 75, 115, R. 239, 279.

Mr. Brown made an estimate of the cost involved in implementing the repairs he contemplated. Tr. Vol. I at 173, R. 337. The work generally involved removing the south 30 feet of concrete of the Skaggs buiding, disposing of that concrete in some manner, regrading that area, grading the north 30 feet of the Skaggs building, pouring concrete along the north 30 feet of the building, including laying in reinforcing steel, and moving any electrical and plumbing equipment which had been put in place. Tr. Vol. I at 173-74, R. 337-38. Mr. Brown estimated that all of the foregoing work could be accomplished at a cost of approximately \$3,000. Tr. Vol. I at 173-76, R. 337-40. Mr. Brown also testified that this

work could be accomplished in ten working days, assuming a contractor, the equipment and the personnel were immediately available to perform the work. Tr. Vol. I at 208-09, R. 372-373.

Mr. Price testified that the remedy advocated by Russell Brown was not feasible since the column spacings and footings were not placed at uniform distances corresponding to the thirty foot surveying error. Instead, the footings were set at varying distances corresponding to the placement of the tenant's gondolas, aisles and refrigeration equipment. Tr. Vol. I at 100-101, R. 264-65. The footings could not be moved. Tr. Vol. I at 76, R. 240. Only total replacement would cure the problem. Tr. Vol. I at 76, 103, R. 240, 267. Moving the whole building would require 30 to 90 days, depending upon negotiations with subcontractors and tenants, and securing authorization from the tenant. Tr. Vol. I at 103, R. 267.

Mr. Price estimated the total cost of repair at approximately \$100,000. Tr. Vol. I at 75, R. 239. The repairs would cost thirty to forty thousand dollars for repouring the concrete alone. Id. In addition, the costs of repair had to include the risk of increased cost resulting from renegotiating with contractors and materialmen. Tr. Vol. I at 36, 39, R. 200, 203. The bids upon which JPA relied had been

submitted six months previously and the costs of construction had gone up substantially in the meantime. Tr. Vol. I at 75, R. 239. Thus, asking the subcontractors to do additional work on the project would subject JPA to a possible escalation of the cost of other work to be performed under the subcontracts and materials to be supplied. Tr. Vol. I at 36, R. 200.

At the trial of this matter, a real estate appraiser testified as to plaintiff's damages. Ralph Wright, an MAI appraiser, examined the property and prepared a report, which was admitted into evidence. Tr. Vol. II at 42, R. 508, Pltf. Ex. 12. Mr. Wright used two methods to assess plaintiff's loss. First, using an annuity approach over the probable economic life of the project, Mr. Wright estimated the present value of the plaintiff's lost net income at \$80,598. Tr. Vol. I at 125, R. 289. Second, by comparing the value of the property as built to the value of the property if constructed as planned, Mr. Wright estimated the present value of the loss at \$72,351. Tr. Vol. I at 126, R. 290. In the second approach, Mr. Wright concluded that the land alone would have increased in value \$30,000 had the plaintiff fully developed the property as planned. Pltf. Ex. 12. Based upon these figures, Mr. Wright concluded that the present value of plaintiff's loss was \$75,000. Tr. Vol. I at 126, R. 290. Defen-

dant offered no direct evidence on the loss of value of the land or future net income.

At the trial of this matter in 1980, the jury returned a verdict in the amount of \$30,000 in favor of the plaintiff. R. 101, 107. Several days later, the defendant moved for judgment n.o.v. or, in the alternative, for a remittitur or a new trial. R. 126. On January 12, 1981, Judge Maurice Harding granted the motion for a new trial on the ground "that the evidence was insufficient to justify the verdict". R. 140. After further briefing by the parties, the court reaffirmed its decision of January 12, 1981, and noted "that a new trial should be granted in this case on the basis that the damages were excessive and on the basis that there was no culpable negligence on the part of the engineers." Thereafter, the case was set for a new trial.

On March 1, 1983, the day set for trial, Judge David Sam, upon consideration of a trial brief filed by defendant, concluded, sua sponte, that John Price Associates, Inc. (the contractor for the Orem Plaza Project) was an indispensable party in the matter. R. 147-48. The district court granted the plaintiff ten days within which to amend its complaint and add John Price Associates, Inc. as an indispensable party, or suffer a dismissal of the action. Id. The plain-

tiff elected not to amend the complaint, and the action was dismissed pursuant to Judge Sam's order.

ARGUMENT

POINT I

THE TRIAL COURT ERRED IN GRANTING DEFENDANT  
A NEW TRIAL.

As noted above, at the trial of this matter the jury returned a verdict in favor of the plaintiff and assessed damages of \$30,000. Later, Judge Harding granted the defendant's motion for a new trial. The district court's ruling was erroneous since the record contains no substantial competent evidence to support a verdict for the defendant.

The standard under which this court will review a trial court's decision on a motion for a new trial depends upon whether the trial court has denied or granted the motion. Nelson v. Trujillo, 657 P.2d 730, 731 (Utah 1982). Where, as in this matter, the trial court has granted a motion for a new trial, the Supreme Court will affirm on appeal if the record reflects "substantial competent evidence which would support a verdict for the [moving party]." King v. Union Pacific R. R. Co., 117 Utah 40, 53, 212 P.2d 692, 698 (1949).

In granting defendant's motion for a new trial, the district court held "that the evidence was insufficient to justify the verdict." R. 140. A review of the record, how-

ever, reveals that there is no substantial competent evidence to support a verdict for defendant, either on the issue of liability or the amount of damages suffered by plaintiff.

The negligence of defendant in staking the corners of plaintiff's property was well established by the pleadings and the evidence at trial. The undisputed testimony was that defendant staked the property corners for plaintiff in the summer of 1973. The northwest property corner was marked by one inch diameter rebar and a wood stake. The evidence is undisputed that the rebar and wooden stake were placed by the defendant. The evidence is likewise undisputed that the northwest property corner was marked about thirty feet south of the point indicated by the survey. In fact, the defendant admitted, in its answer to plaintiff's amended complaint, that it "erroneously set the stakes on plaintiff's property." R. 10-11, 13-14. Defendant also stated, in its answer to the amended complaint: "The defendant, Rollins, Brown & Gunnell, Inc., admits that a mistake was made in staking of the plaintiff's property by one of its agents and employees, but denies that the plaintiff has suffered damaged by reason thereof." R. 14. At the trial, defendant requested that the court instruct the jury that the defendant, Rollins, Brown & Gunnell "has admitted liability in this case." R. 32. This instruction was not given by the court.

Considering all the evidence adduced at the trial of this matter and the admissions contained in the pleadings, the record lacks substantial competent evidence to support a verdict for defendant on the issue of liability.

On the issue of damages, substantial competent evidence to support a verdict for the defendant is likewise absent. The defendant's evidence respecting damages was solely on the issue of mitigation. The trial court erred in considering and submitting to the jury the defendant's evidence respecting mitigation of damages, since the issue was not raised as an affirmative defense as required by the Utah Rules of Civil Procedure. In Pratt v. Board of Education of Uintah County School District, 564 P.2d 294, 298 (Utah 1977), the Utah Supreme Court held that mitigation of damages is an affirmative defense required to be pleaded under Utah R. Civ. P. 8(c), or the defense is waived, Utah R. Civ. P. 12(h). Consequently, this evidence was not relevant, not admissible, and not competent to support a verdict for the defendant.

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