1984

Price-Orem Investment Company, A Limited Partnership v. Rollins, Brown & Gunnell, Inc : Respondent's Brief

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

RELIEF SOUGHT ON APPEAL

The respondent urges that the trial court's decision be affirmed in all respects. If, however, this court determines that the trial court's decision should be reversed, the matter should be remanded for a new trial on all issues.

STATEMENT OF FACTS

Sometime during the first part of July, 1973, John Price Associates, Inc., (JPA), contracted with the defendant to have a survey done of the site of the Orem Plaza, a shopping center owned and developed by Price-Orem Investment Company, a limited partnership. R.183, 192, 210. The shopping center was constructed by John Price Associates, Inc. R.192, 208. John Price, the individual, was the sole general partner of Price-Orem Investment Company. The limited partners were controlled corporations of John Price. R.207. Agents of the defendant performed the survey in accordance with the terms of the contract. R.319.

In June, 1974, JPA again contracted with the defendant t

stake the layout of the shopping center building. R. 209-11, 123. Mr. Brown, a consulting engineer and a principal of the defendant, testified that the starting point for staking the layout of a building is usually furnished by the building owner. R. 375. Mr. Thurgood, the engineer in charge of the surveying crew which staked the building layout, R. 322, met with Mr. Marshall, the job superintendant for the plaintiff, prior to performing the staking. R. 410. Mr. Marshall had already prepared the base for the structure upon which the staking was to be laid out. The base consisted of a gravel bed which had been located from a stake which Marshall had selected as a starting point. R. 421, 426. Mr. Thurgood confirmed Marshall's measurements from a starting point stake labeled "N.W. property corner." R. 413. The stake had been well preserved, and was marked off by flagging and other stakes around it, R. 413-15, and there was other evidence that at least two other persons had used that stake as the northwest property corner. R. 426. Based on that starting point, Mr. Thurgood and his crew staked the building layout. R. 416. The building layout as staked fit properly on top of fill material which had already been placed by JPA. R. 421, 254-55.

Mr. Thurgood testified that the procedures he used in staking the building layout were in accordance with the custom in his profession. R. 424.

Later even revealed that the stake used by Mr. Thurgood was not the corner intended by the owner which by reason of the subsequent property acquisition was about 30 feet to the north.

R. 414. As a result, the building was staked about thirty feet south of the location called for on the site plan.

The problem resulted from these facts. In July of 1973, the plaintiff, by purchase order, employed the defendant to survey the boundaries of plaintiff's property. The defendant made the survey but it was determined that the deed line and fence line did not fit. The plaintiff, therefore, by negotiation, acquired additional property north of its fence line. Plaintiff then tore down the fence and graded the property north of the fence line shown on the survey. (See Exhibit 4). The fact that such additional property was acquired and which moved the plaintiff's property north some thirty feet was never revealed to the plaintiff. R. 260. When Mr. Thurgood went to the site to do the staking, he did not take the survey documents with him, believing that he was merely to lay out the construction grid at the place selected by the plaintiff. R. 423-24. That grid, so far as he was concerned, had no bearing on the survey, although he did talk with Mr. Marshall as to how he had developed the location and inspected the stake labeled "N.W. property corner." R. 415-16.

When Mr. Thurgood discovered the error, he notified his superiors and notified the plaintiff. R. 418-19. Mr. Brown testified that he inspected the property about the first of September, 1973, R. 328-30, and noted what aspects of construction had been completed at that time. R. 333. He estimated that the total amount of concrete poured at that time was about thirty-eight cubic yards in the footings and about one hundred fifty-three yards in the slabs. R. 334. He also

observed that no electrical work and very little plumbing had been installed. R.337. Mr. Brown then developed two proposals for correcting the mislocation of the building. R.336. He estimated that the corrections would cost about three thousand dollars, R.340, and would take about ten days to complete. R.341.

Mr. Brown's suggestions and other suggestions for correcting the problem were presented to Mr. Price at a meeting on September 13, 1974. R.341. The original complaint in this matter, seeking \$825,000.00 in damages, had been filed a few days earlier. R.436. Mr. Price did not give serious consideration to any of the defendant's proposals, but summarily dismissed each one. R.341-44, 437. JPA redesigned the building to shorten it by thirty feet, R.204, and sought to recover for the resulting loss of twenty one hundred square feet.

Substantial competent evidence was presented concerning the amount of parking required for the complex. Both Mr. Brown, who spent his full time as a consulting engineer for Orem City and was familiar with the ordinances relating to shopping center construction, R.349, and Mr. Deschamps, the planning director for Orem City during the relevant time period, R.389, testified that 596 parking spaces were required for the shopping complex as finally constructed.

R.360, 397. The number of parking spaces actually provided, however, was only 490. See also R.401.

The matter was submitted to the jury, which returned a verdict for the plaintiff and assessed the damages of thirty thousand dollars. R.101. The defendant moved for judgment N.O.V., or in the alternative for a remittitur or a new trial, R.126, and the court granted a new trial. R.140. The plaintiff then moved for reconsideration of the grant of a new trial, and the defendant moved to amend its answer. On May 15, 1981, the court granted the defendant's motion to amend, denied the plaintiff's motion to reconsider, and reaffirmed its grant of a new trial, stating as the basis therefor that "the damages were excessive" and that there was "no culpable negligence on the part of the engineers."

Prior to the second trial this defendant was allowed to file an amended answer wherein it denied any mis-staking and among other defenses alleged the failure to join real parties in interest.

The new trial was scheduled before Judge David Sam on March 1, 1983. On the suggestion of the defendant, the court ruled, sua sponte, that John Price Associates, Inc., was a necessary and indispensable party to the action. The court ordered that the plaintiff could amend its complaint within ten days, or the action would be dismissed. R.147-49. The plaintiff elected not to amend, and thereafter perfected its appeal. R.150.

A R G U M E N T

POINT I

SUBSTANTIAL COMPETENT EVIDENCE WAS PRESENTED WHICH WOULD SUPPORT A VERDICT FOR THE DEFENDANT; THE TRIAL COURT'S GRANT OF A NEW TRIAL SHOULD THEREFORE BE AFFIRMED.

After reviewing the trial transcript and two rounds of briefs submitted by the parties, and after hearing oral arguments on the matter, Judge Maurice Harding determined that the defendant's motion for a new trial should be granted. The reasons given were that the damages were excessive and that there was no culpable negligence on the part of the defendant. That decision should be upheld on appeal if the record contains "substantial competent evidence" which would support a verdict for the defendant. Nelson v. Trujillo, 657 P.2d 730 (Utah 1982).

"Substantial competent evidence" is of course not capable of precise definition. Dairyland Insurance Co. v. Holder, 641 P.2d 136 (Utah 1982), supports the inference that any admissible evidence greater than a mere scintilla constitutes substantial competent evidence. See also Helman v. Sacred Heart Hospital, 62 Wash. 2d 136, 381 P.2d 605, 612-13 (1963). In Utah State Road Commission v. Steele Ranch, 533 P.2d 888 (Utah 1975), the court defined "substantial evidence" as follows:

In dealing with that problem, we recognize that neither the trial court, nor this reviewing court, should trespass upon the prerogative

of the jury by applying a subjective measure of our own ideas of "reasonableness" and rejecting as not "substantial" any evidence which fails to meet that test. Allowance should be made for the fact that there is a comparatively wide orbit through which reasonable minds may swing; and that what may be considered reasonable in the broad sense need not necessarily fit into the exact pattern of our own thought. In the time honored and universally accepted rule that a finding or verdict must be supported by substantial evidence, the modifying adjective "substantial" has been used advisedly to indicate a higher degree of proof than just any evidence of any kind. The requirement is that the evidence must be sufficient in amount and credibility that, when considered in connection with the other evidence and circumstances shown in the case, would justify some, but not necessarily all, reasonable minds acting fairly thereon, to believe it to be the truth. And conversely, if when so considered, the court is convinced that it is so inconsequential, or so clearly lacking in credibility, that no jury acting fairly and reasonably could so believe, it cannot properly be regarded as substantial evidence.

533 P.2d at 890 (emphasis added, footnotes omitted).

The record in this case clearly contains substantial competent evidence which would justify a verdict for the defendant.

A. The Defendant Was Not Negligent. One of the bases for the trial court's ruling was that "there was no culpable negligence on the part of the engineers." The court's conclusion certainly finds substantial supporting competent evidence in the record; indeed, there is no substantial evidence to the contrary.

The plaintiff states on page 16 of its brief that "[t]he evidence is undisputed that the [northwest property corner] rebar and wooden stake were placed by the defendant," and that "[t]he evidence is likewise undisputed that the northwest property corner was marked about thirty feet south of the

point indicated by the survey." The plaintiff then argues that because the defendant in its original answer admitted making a mistake, the defendant is liable for any consequences of that mistake.

The defendant now denies having made a mistake. Assuming, arguendo, that a mistake was made, the plaintiff's contention might be valid if this were a contract case, and if the proper party were the plaintiff. The defendant might then be liable, even if not negligent, for breach of contract. The plaintiffs stoutly maintained, however, that its case sounded in tort, not contract (R. 192), and it was so treated by the trial court (R. 456). The plaintiff was, therefore, required to prove not just that the defendant made a mistake, but that the defendant was negligent, and that the negligence proximately caused injury to the plaintiff.

Mr. Thurgood, the engineer in charge of the survey crew which staked the building, testified that he, in conjunction with Mr. Marshall, the job superintendant for the plaintiff, selected a stake marked "N.W. Property Corner" as the starting point for staking the building. R.413-16, 428. Mr. Thurgood and Mr. Marshall selected that stake as a starting point because it had been set off and preserved by flagging. R.413. There were several other indications which led Mr. Thurgood to believe that he was working with the correct starting point, including the fact that the property corners as staked fitted neatly on top of the fill work which had already been completed by the contractor. R.421, 426.

Later events revealed that the starting point used was actually thirty feet south of the new northwest property

corner. R.418. The plaintiff claims that this thirty foot offset was a result of the defendant's negligence in failing to select the correct starting point. The plaintiff also apparently argues that the defendant was negligent at a much earlier stage, in doing the initial survey of the property and in placing the survey pegs relied upon by Mr. Thurgood. The fact is that the plaintiff had already used the erroneous stake for laying out the construction base and all the defendant was required to do by its purchase order was to stake the foundation dimensions. It was not employed to locate the foundation upon the plaintiff's property. R.256, ex. 7.

No expert testimony (or other evidence) was presented by the plaintiff concerning the standards of care applicable to the surveying and engineering professions. The standard of care required for a surveyor is not within the common knowledge of lay persons, and expert testimony on the subject was therefore necessary to establish a prima facie case of negligence. National Housing Industries, Inc. v. E.L. Jones Development Co., 118 Ariz. 374, 576 P.2d 1374 (Ct. App. 1978); Carter & Company, Inc. v. McGee, 213 So. 2d 89 (La. Ct. App. 1968). See also Marsh v. Pemberton, 10 Utah 2d 40, 347 P.2d 1108 (1959).

Mr. Thurgood, an expert witness qualified to testify on the subject, testified for the defendant that the procedures that he used to stake the building were correct (R.424), and that, if presented with the same situation again, he would perform the staking exactly as he did the first time. R.426.

With the exception of Mr. Price's argumentative outburst, that there was "no engineer in the world that would stake out a building without a survey" (R. 258), there was no evidence that the survey was not performed with due care in accordance with established surveying techniques, or that it was in any other respect negligently performed.

In addition, there was also evidence from which reasonable minds could have concluded that, arguendo, regardless of any alleged problems with the initial survey, the ultimate mistaking was the proximate result of the plaintiff's failure to preserve all the stakes from the initial survey, or that the plaintiff had itself mislocated its foundation or had consented and approved the use of the "incorrect" stake for that purpose. R.413-15, 418 (l. 22-24), 426. There was no evidence as to whether the stake marking the correct northwest property corner was still in existence at the time Mr. Thurgood performed the staking of the building grid. Mr. Thurgood testified he observed nothing in the area of the correct northwest corner. R.415.

Where the plaintiff presented no expert testimony as to the appropriate standard of care, and where there was substantial evidence from which a jury could have concluded that mistaking, if any, was not the defendant's fault, the trial court's grant of a new trial must be upheld.

B. The Plaintiff Failed To Mitigate Its Damages. The other ground given by the trial court for its grant of a new trial was that the damages were excessive. The jury awarded

damages of \$30,000.00. The trial court apparently made this ruling either because it was convinced that the plaintiff had failed to mitigate its damages, or that the plaintiff simply did not suffer that great of damage. The latter issue will be addressed in subparagraph "C" of this Point.

The defendant presented evidence that, at the time the error was discovered, in July 1974, the costs of correcting the error would have been approximately \$3,000.00, and that repairs would have taken approximately ten days to complete. R.340-41. This proposed repair essentially involved shifting the building about thirty feet to the north, removing some of the concrete which had been poured, and pouring an additional pad of concrete on the north end of the building. R.336. The testimony concerning the costs of repair was given by Mr. Brown, who was a consulting engineer and who regularly designed buildings and did cost estimates. R.315, 339.

This proposal, along with several others, was presented to Mr. Price, the principal of the plaintiff, on September 13, 1974. The plaintiff had commenced this action, seeking damages of \$895,000.00, a few days earlier, on September 9. R.220, 328, 436. At the September 13 meeting, Mr. Price summarily dismissed each of the proposals of the defendant, R.437, 341-44, and proceeded at full steam to build the shopping center, making no other effort to mitigate the damages.

The plaintiff objected to the evidence concerning the cost of correcting the error at the time it was discovered, contending that the defendant had not pleaded the plaintiff's

failure to mitigate damages as an affirmative defense, and had therefore waived that defense. A similar issue was addressed by this court in Cheney v. Rucker, 14 Utah 2d 205, 381 P.2d 86 (1963). Justice Crockett, speaking for the court in that case, commented as follows:

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